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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

MUWEKMA OHLONE TRIBE,
Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 03-1231(RBW)

KEN SALAZAR,
Secretary of the Interior, at.!

N N N N N N N N

Defendans.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

The Muwekma Ohlone Tribéhle “Muwekma”) the plaintiff in this civilcase brings this
action under the United States Constitution and the Administrative Procedure R&[;A
U.S.C. 88 554, 701-706 (20Q&eeking review of the “Final Determination Against Federal
Acknowledgment of the Muwekma Ohlone Tribe” (“Final Determination”), 67 Fed. Reg. 58, 631
(2002), issued by the Department of the Interior (“DOI” or “the Department”;hwdeclined to
grant federal recognition to the Muwekma as a Native Americanunterthe acknowledgment
criteria of 25 C.F.R. § 83 (2006) (“Part 83"). Complaint (“Compl.”) § 1. Currentlgrbehe
Court are the parties’ crossotions for summary judgment. After careful consideration of the

parties’ submissions and all documents and exhibits presented with those*fiieg8purt

! The plaintiff named the following individuals as defants in its original complain{1) Gale Norton, in her

official capacity as the Secretary of the Interior (“Secretary”); (2) Aurene hManther capacity as the Acting
Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs; and (3) the Departmenteolitierior (colletively “the defendantsdr “the
Department). Under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 25(d)(1), the Court has subdtitue current Secretary of
the Interior, Ken Salazar, for the former Secretary, Gale Norton. Simiflagly;ourt has also substitutiealrry

Echo Hawk, the current Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs, in plafoeroer Assistant Secretary Aurene Martin.

% There have been two rounds of summary judgment briefing in this caseirstsetfof summary judgment

motions filed in this cascommenced on July 13, 2005. The Court denied those motions withoutqeejndi
(continued . . .)
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concludes for the following reasons that it must deny tam{pff's motion for summary
judgment and grant the defendants’ cross-motion for summary judgment.
|. Background

A. Requlatory Framework

“The question of whether a Native American Group constitutes an Indian tribe is one of
immense significance in federaldian law.” H.R. Rep. 103-781, P.L. 103-454, Federally
Recognizd Indian Tribe List Act of 1994, 1994 U.S.C.C.A.N. 3768, 1994 WL 542741. Thisis

because federal recognition of a Native American group as a tribe “is a jpseeciputhe

(.. . continued)

remanded the case to the Department for the purpose of having the agencyveixplainequire[d the] Muwekma
to proceed through the . . . tribal acknowledgment procedunde allowing other tribes that appear to be similarly
situated to bypass the procedures altogethdiutvekma Ohlone Tribe v. Kempthorné25 F. Supp. 2d 105, 125
(D.D.C. 2006) (Walton, J.). After the Department supplementedgvecy record with regard to the waiver issue, a
second round of summary judgment briefing commenced on February 16, 2007 e lseit@sd summary judgment
briefs, the parties focused on the question to be answered on remand byatenBraip but they also renewed their
otherarguments on the remaining clainSeeMemorandum of Points and Authorities in Support of Plaintiff's
Motion for Summary Judgment at 36 (reasserting all grounds for synjudgment raised in its initial
memorandum in support of motion for summary judgment); Memorandum in SuppoffeotiBets’ Crosdotion

for Summary Judgment and Response in Opposition to Plaintiff’'s Motion for Spnidmdgment at 25 (recounting
arguments raised in its initial cressotion for summary judgment). The Court, therefordl, eainsider the
arguments presented in both the first and second round of summary judgmanry briassessing the merits of the
plaintiff's claims under the APA and the Constitution.

Accordingly, the Court considerele followingsubmissions in reachirits decision(1) the plaintiff's Complaint
(“Compl.”); (2) the defendants’ Answer; (3) tR®ints and Authorities in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for
Summary Judgment (“Pl.Birst SJ Mem.”); (¥}the defendants’ fird¥lemorandum in Support of Defendant
CrossMotion for Summary Judgment and Response in Opposition to Plaintiffs’ MimiidBummary Judgment
(“Defs.’ First SJ Mem.”); (pthe Reply Brief in Support of Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and Opigosi
Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgnt (“Pl.’sFirst SJ Opp'n”); (§ the Reply Memorandum in Support of
Defendants’ CrosMotion for Summary Judgment (“Defgirst SJ Reply™); (Y the Plaintiff's Notice of
Supplemetal Authority (“Pl.’s Supp. Not.”); (Bthe Defendants’ Response to Plaintiff's Filing of Supplementa
Authority (“Defs.’ Resp. to Supp. Not.”); J@he Plaintiff's Second Notice of Supplemental Aatity (“Pl.’s Second
Supp. Not.”); (10 the Defendants’ Response to Plaintiff's Second Notice of Supplementaordtyt(“Defs.” Re9.
to Second Supp. Not.”); (JthePlaintiff's Reply in Support of Second Notice of Supplemental Auth¢tRl.’s
Reply to Second Resp.”); (12) the Memorandum of Points and Authoritiegppo8 of Plaintiff's Motion for
Summary Judgment (“Pl.’s SecoB8d Mem.”); (13) the Defendants’ second Memorandum in Support of
Defendants’ CrosMotion for Summary Judgment and Response in Opposition to Plaintiff®Mfutr Summary
Judgment (“Defs.” Second SJ Mem.”); (14) the Reply Memorandum of Poitht&wthorities in Support of
Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Defendantsgbiotion for Summary Judgment
(“Pl.’s Second SJ Opp’n”); (15) the Defendants’ Reply in Support ofridiefiets’ Crosgviotion for Summary
Judgment (“Defs.” SecondIReply”); (16) the Defendants’ Supplemental Memoranda (“Defs.” Sdpm.”); and
(17) the Plaintiff’'s Opposition to Defendants’ Supplemental Memoranduresoies Set Forth in the Court’s
September 30, 2008 Order (“Defs.” Supp. Opp’n”).



protection, services, and benefits” provided by the Federal government to Inokan &s well
as the “immunities and privileges available to other federally acknowdddden tribes by
virtue of their governmert-government relationship with the United States5’QF.R. § 83.2.
Pursuant to statutorily delegated authority, the Department is empoweretenatiithority to
determine which currently unrecognized Native American groups meeittéreadior federal

recoquition. 25 U.S.C. 88 2, 9 (20D6Gee &0 Janes v. HH$824 F.2d 1132, 1137 (D.C. Cir.

1987) (stating that “Congress has specifically authorized the ExecutivehBraprescribe
regulations concerning Indian affairs and relations. The purpose of the oegsidieme is to . .
. determine which ldian groups exist as tribes” (citations omitted)).

In 1978, the Department promulgated regulations that formally addrbesedbal
recognition process, 43 Fed. Reg. 39, 361 (Sept. 5, 1978) (codified at 25 C.F.R. § 54 et seq.)
(recodified at 25 C.F.R. 8 83&¢(.), and it later revised theggulations in 1994/luwekma

Ohlone Tribe v. Kempthorne, 452 F. Supp. 2d 105, 108 (D.D.C. 2006) (Walton, J.). Under these

regulations, there are three avenues available to an Indian entitygsesdognition as tribe by
the federal government. The principal means for an American Indian entity¢odgmized as a
tribe is under 25 C.F.R. 8§ 83.7, which sets forth seven “mandatory criteria” for &dogmition.
25 C.F.R. § 83.7. The Part 83 criteria the=following:

(a) The petitioner has been identified as an American Indian entity on a sublstantial
continuous basis since 1900. . . .

(b) A predominant portion of the petitioning group comprises a distinct community and
has existed as a community from historitwales until the present. . . .

(c) The petitioner has maintained political influence or authority over its membans as a
autonomous entity from historical times until the present. . . .

(d) A copy of the group’s present governing document including its mempensteria.



(e) The petitioner's membership consists of individuals who descend from a historical
Indian tribe or from historical Indian tribes which combined and functioned as a
single autonomous political entity. . . .

(H The membership of the petitimg group is composed principally of persons who are
not members of any acknowledged North American Indian tribe. . . .

(9) Neither the petitioner nor its members are the subject of congressional legitiatio
has expressly terminated or forbiddes [flederal relationship.

Id. The secod means of attaining acknowledgment is through the “modified” Part 83 process,
which is available to those entities that had been previously (but are not cyirmektlgwledged
by the federal government as a Native American trifeC.F.R. § 83.8(a). Under the modified
criteria, petitioning Native American entities that can provide substantial evidence of
“[ulnambiguous previous [flederal acknowledgment,” id., need only provide the following
showing as to tharkt three Part 83 criteri¢l) that it had been identified as an American Indian
entity on a substantially continuous basis “since the point of [its] last [fleagkabwlelgment,”
25 C.F.R. § 83.8(d)(1)2) that “it comprises a distinct community aepenf’ 25 C.F.R. §
83.8(d)(2); and (3) that “political influence or authority is exercised within iihepg. . . from
the point of [its] last [flederal acknowledgment to the present,” 25 C.F.R. § 83.8(&)(&)ly,
the last optiorfor federalacknowkdgmentavailable to a Native American groigto seek a
waiver of the Part 83 requirements, which the Secretary has the authgrigytid waiver of the
requirements would be "in the best interests of the Indfar26"C.F.R. § 1.2.

A petitioner, however, is not required to provide conclusive evidence under g¢heh of
Part 83 criteria; rather,“ariterion shall be considered met if the available evidence establishes a
reasonable likelihood of the validity of the facts relating to that criteritth.”"Furthermore, the

Department, in evaluating a petition, is required to “take into account histotiedians and

% As discussed belw, there have been at least two recent instances in which the Secretary has waRart 88
requirements and granted federal acknowledgment to those erfigeinfra at 1718.



time periods for which evidence is demonstrably limited or not available.” 25 C.F.R. §83.6(e
After evaluating all of the evidencegiffered by a petitioner, should the Department conclude
that the evidence “demonstrates that it does not meet one or more criteridtherdfis

insufficient evidence that it meets one or more of the criteria,” then the Amagy deny
acknowledgmeito a petitionef. 25 C.F.R. § 83.6(d).

B. History of the Verona Band and its Descendants

The Muwekma Ohlone Tribe is a group of American Indians “located in Northern
California in the San Francisco Bay Area.” Compl. § 5. The name “Ohlone” iteamative to
“Costanoan,” which was a label given to “[tlhe Indians along the Pac#istcear San
Francisco Bay,” and “who were concentrated by the Spaniards before 1834 &giwa 8an
Jose.” Pl.’sFirst SIMem., Exhibit ("Ex.") 7 (Proposed Finding) at 10The plaintiff asserts that
its members descended from these Indians, id., although nine other Indian groups thsdsubmi
petitions to the Department also “use[d] the Ohlone or Costanoan tribal name,” wharkljrag
to the Departmensuggedst that “the Muwekma . . . does not have an uncontested claim to
represent the descendants of all the Ohlone of the San Francisco Bay Ard¢haeoteatitory of

the Costanoaspeaking peoplesid. at 9.

* As discussed below, the Court ultimately concludes that the Muwekied faiprovide sufficient evidence to the
Department that it “has been identified as an American Indian entity on arsiiddst continuous basis since” 1927,
when the Verona band was last recognized by the federal government. R583B.7(a); seesd25 C.F.R. §
83.8(d)(1) (requiring petitioners with previous federal acknogheeht to demonstrate that “[tjhe group meets the
requirements of . . . [Section] 83.7(a), except that such identificdtadhie demonstrated since the point of last
Federalacknowledgment”). Because the Muwekma'’s failure to meet the requirem&sastafn 83.7(a) was a
sufficient basis for the Department to deny federal recognition tortlup ggee?5. C.F.R. § 83.6(d), the remainder
of this background section, as well as the Court’s analysis of the Moaigklaims, will focus only on the facts
relevant to the Department’s Section 83.7(a) analysis.

® When providing a pincite for either the Department's Proposed BindiRinal Determination, the Court will
utilize the adninistrativerecord page number, rather than the number affixed by the Department in cteating t
report.



Nonetheless, the evidence in the administratigcercedoes reflect thabany ofthe
Muwekmadescendeffom Indians who residedear the Mission San Jose. Id. at 10.
Specifically, there were two settlements located “in the area north of [thefi¢dastMission San
Jose and east of San Francisco Bagraa referred to today as th&dst Bay.” 1d. “The most
prominent of these settlements was located in a canyon just southwest of the Ri@asahton,
California, and near a railroad station named Veromd.” The settlement came to be “known
as the Alisal or Pleasanton rancheria, and its members were referred totey [Rtates] Indian
agents as the Verona bandd. The “second settlement, known as El Molino, was located near
the town of Niles, which was within ten miles of Veron&! These “two Indian settlements, or
Rancherias, . . . existed until the 1910[]s in Alameda Courlty.”

In 1906, the Department appointed C.E. Kelsey to conduct a census of landless Indians
residing on the Alisal and Niles settlememds,at 67, in connection with the Act of June 21,
1906, whichjnter alia, appropriated funds for the purchase of land for Indians who were not
then residing on reservations, Compl. § 14. Kelsey ultimately prepared a doedi titésd
“Schedule [S]howing [N]orjR]eservation mdians in Northern California,” which noted that
there were 29 individuals residing at the Pleasanton rancheria, and 14 indivedidifggrat the
Niles Rancheria. Pl.’s First 88em., Ex. 7 (Proposed Finding) at 67. In addition to the Kelsey
census, the federal census conducted for Alameda County in 1910 “included a special Indian
population schedule which enumerated 17 Indian residents of ‘Indian town,” which appears to
have been the Pleasanton rancherld.”at 10. According to the Department’s findings,
approximately “48 percent of the [Muwekma’s] members descend directly fronaliam . . . on
either the 1905-1906 Kelsey census of Pleasanton or Niles, or the 1910 Federal céndiasof °

town.” Id. Within that 48 percent, “[a]bout 70 percethe [Muwekma’s] members



descend[ed] from an Indian woman, Avelina (Cornates) Marine . . . , who, according to
recollections of her son in the 1960[]s, may have been raised in the household of the claef of on
of those Indian Rancherias before the 1880[]d. Furthermore, “[tjwo of Marine’s children
were listed on the 1910 census,” although “Marine’s other children . . . were not listedtpn [tha
census.”ld. Itis from those unlisted childrdrom whom*[tjhe majority ofthe [Muwekma’s]
members desceridld. Accordingly, “[a]ll of the [Muwekma’s] members descend either from
an Indian individual listed on the 1905-1906 Kelsey census,” an Indian individual listed on the
1910 census, “or from an unlisted Marine sibling of an individual on thesé lidts
TheDepartment acknowledges that the Verona band was previously recognized by the
federal govamment as an Indian tribe. Id. at 8. This prior recognittas based on evidence
that “[t}he band was among the groups . . . under the jurisdictitredhdian agency at
Sacramento, California,” and that “[t|he agency testh the Verona [b]and as a group and
identified it as a distinct social and political entity.” Pl.’s First SJ Mé&m. 47 (May 24, 1996
Letter from Department of Interior to Resary Cambra) at 1. Specifically, the Department
found that in 1914, an agent of the Office of the Indian Affairs, C.H. Asbury, mentioned a
“Verona band in Alameda County” as a “potential beneficiary of the-fandhase program
createl by the Act of June 21, 1906. Pl.’s First SJ Mem., Ex. 7 (Proposed Finding) at 12. The
Sacramento Agency also mentioned the possibility of purchasing land for thea\lb@ah in
1923. Id. According to the Department, “[hJowever, no land was purchased for the groupl[,] and
no negotiations to buy land on its behalf are known to have taken place&nd, “[ijn 1927,
Superintendent L.A. Dorrington referred to fMerona] band but concluded that land should not
be purchased on its behalfild. Despite these referencesthe Verona band, the Department

asserts that it is not aware of any “census of the members of the Verona bagdisuyiears



between 1914 and 192718. Nonetheless, the Department acknowledges that the Verona band
had been previously recognized by the federal government from Asbury’sicittif of the
Band in 1914 to Dorrington’s recommendation that the government not purchase land for the
Band in 1927, idat 8, and that neither Congress nor any executive agency ever formally
withdrew federal remgnition of this group, Answer at 14.

In early 1989the Muwekma submitted to the Department a letter of intent to petition for
federal acknowledgment as an Indian tribe. MHirst SIMem. at 11; Defs.First SIMem. at 4.
In its response, the Departnalirected thé/luwekma to file a formal petition for
acknowledgment along with detailed documentation in accordance with theRatea. Pl.’s
First SIMem., Ex. 46 (April 25, 1989 letter from Joseph Little to Rosemary Cambra) at 1
(cautioning Muwé&ma that “[b]Jecause of the significance and permanence of acknowledgment
as a tribe, the process of evaluation is a lengthy and thorough dieMuwekmathen
submitted a formal petition for acknowledgmenearly 1995, as well as “thousands of pages”
of supplemental material, Pl.’s First Bé&m. at 11, which included “primary and secondary
source documents, genealogical evidence, arguments by its researcherspansies to
guestions posed by the Department’s staff,” Défgst SIMem. at 5. Aftereviewing the
Muwekma'’s petition and the accompanying materials, the Department cahgiadieninarily
in May 1996 “that the Pleasanton or Verona Band of Alameda County[, from which meyhbers
the Muwekma tribe are directly descended,] was previoustyaadiedged by the federal
government between 1914 and 1927.” Ddfgst SJ Mem. at SeealsoPl.’s First SIMem. at
11. The Department thus informed Muwekma “that it would be able to complete itsrpetiti
documentation with the expectation that it \bhbe evaluated under the federal acknowledgment

regulations’ modified criteria set out in § 83.8.” Defarst SJ Memat 5.



C. The Muwekma's Petition for Acknowledgment

In its petition, he Muwekma asserts that the Veroaadh continued to exist adréal
entity after 1928. SeePl.’s FirstSIMem. at 5 (asserting that “Congress . . . never enacted
legislation terminating the trust relationship with the . . . Verona Band,” ahththBand did
“not voluntarily abandon(] tribal relations.”). For instance, the Muwekmaepted evidence of
a genealogical connection between the members of the Muavakth“24 persons listed by the”
Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”Y on a census of California Indians issued in 19B8% First
SJ Mem., Ex. 7 (Proposed Finding) at 12, and that its members had been listed on the judgment
roll “on three separate occasgj:] in 1933, 1955[,] and 197CRI.’s FirstSIJMem. at 6. This list
of Indians “was produced as a result of an act passed by Congress in 1928 [thdu$ gamert
of Claims jurisdiction to hear claims against the United States on behlad dhdians of
California’ for compensation for aboriginal territory acquired by the fldgovernment.”Pl.’s
First SJ Mem., Ex. 7 (Proposed Finding) at 12. c8jgally, the Act provided compensation to
those claimants who were “Indians . . . residing in the State of California on June 1, $852[, a
well as] their descendants [where] living in [the] State.”Id., Ex. 6 Final Determinatiohat
22.

Accordingto the Muwekma, “eligibility for the [judgment] roll depended on the

applicant’s ability to demonstrate affiliation with[,] and descent from[;ile that had retained

® The Muwekma presented numerous items of evidence in support of its positiiiéthbeen recognized by
external sources as an Indian entity w1927 and 1985, but the Department ultimately concluded that the
evidence only reflected identification by external sources from 1®&9%1, and from 1982 to the prese8teid.,

Ex. 6 (Final Determination) at 47. The Court, therefore, will limit itsuision to only those items of evidence that
the Muwekma contends demonstrate external identifications afgénization from 1928 to 1965, and 1972 to
1982, and the Court will not consider whether the Department’'sugionk as to the other itemkevidence run

afoul of the APA.

"The BIA is a component of the DepartmeBeeUnited States Department of the Interior Official Website,
http://www.interior.gov/bureaus/index.cfm



tribal relations at least through the period of treagking.” 1d. In support of its position that
participation in the California Claims Act required membership in a federallgmexsd Indian
tribe, the Muwekma cited a question on the application form that asked the followitigiues
“What is your degree of Indian blood and to what Tribe or Band of Indians of the State of
California do you belong?1d. Furthermore, the Muwekma noted in its petition that fourteen of
the eighteen applicants answered that question by identifying themaslugmmbers of “some
variant of ‘Mission Sanake.” 1d.; see alsad. at 23 (“In its discussion of these 18 applications,
the petitioner concludes every chart entry but one with the statement thatigrecevshows
applicants ‘identifying themselves’ and their ancestors as ‘Mission Sandisas.”). In
particular, the Muwekma pointed to the application form of Jose Binoco, in which a BIA
examiner had written on the application that “[t]he applicant is a full bloodnindi is one of
the last surviving members of the Mission San Jose Indiad’bthe Muwekma argued that this
comment exhibited an external identification by the BIA examiner of the individual's
contemporary tribal affiliationld. at 24. All of this evidence, the Muwekma argued, supported
its position that inclusion on thedgment roll “required tribal affiliation,” and that “the approval
of applications provid[es] . . . an identification of a contemporary entltz.at 21.

In addition to their ancestors’ participation in the California Claims Act, thedkma
asserted ifts petition that two of its members attlal schools operated by the BIRI.’s First
SJ Mem., Ex. 7 (Proposed Finding) at Bpecifically, the Muwekma provided “twelve pages of
records from the Sherman Institute . . . which demonstratetiDomingdViarine attended this
Indian school during the 1930’s,” as well as “nine pages of records which demosttaiehin

and Rayna Guzman attended the Indian school at Chemawa, OrédioeX. 6(Final

10



Determinationjat 30. The Muwekma “contend[ed] that approval by the BIA of [school]
enrollment constitutes evidence of an external identification of an Indiag’entithe BIA. 1d.

The Muwekma also relied on scholarly publications in support of its position that
external sources had identified it as hdfientity. One example was “a paper written in 1955 by
anthropologists Alfred Kroeber and Robert Heizer for use in Indian Claims Gsiomicases,”

id. at 32 which the Muwekma arguesbntained “a clear reference” to the Indians of the San
Jose Mission, a groupathad later taken refuge “in Pleasanton as one of the groups [that]
continued to maintain their existence,” PFisst SIMem. at39-40. The Muwekmeelied as

well on a book authored by Malcolm Margolin in 1978 titled The Ohlone Way: Indfanrithe

San Franciscdonterey Bay Areain which Margolin made the following observation: “Today

the descendants of the Ohlone Indians are still among us . . . [as] a small, seldadnpactice
the Bay Area population.1d. at 44. The Muwekma also cited @78 articleby Richard Levy

published in the Smithsonian Institution’s Handbook of North American Indians, which

mentioned the formation of the Ohlone Indian Tribe, Inc. in 1971. Pl.’s First SJ Mem., Ex. 7
(Proposed Finding) at 16The Muwekma agued that all of these references evidence an
identification of the entity by external sources.

D. The Department’s Findings

The Department issued psoposed finding regarding the Muwekma'’s petition on July
30, 2001.1d. at 1. Because the Departmentially made “a preliminary finding that the
[group] was a successor to a previously recognized” tribe known as the Verona bankl Haehic
been recognizeds late as 1927,” id. at 15, the Department concluded that the Muwekma need
only present evidendat “satisf[ied] all of the criteria in paragraphs (a) through (g) of [Selcti

83.7,” 25 C.F.R. 8 83.6(c), as modified by Section 83.8, 25 C.F.R. § 83.8(a), since 1807, id.

11



15. Even under the modified criteria of Section 83.8, however, “the Department propose[d] to
decline. . . acknowledge[ment of] the . . . Muwekma . . . as an Indian Tribe” because the
Muwekma did “not meet all seven criteria required for Federal acknowledgnidnat 61.
Specifically, the Department concluded that the Muwekidanat, inter alia, meet the standard
set forth in Section 83.7(a), as modified by Section 83.8(d)(1phaedause the Muwekma failed
to present sufficient evidence of identification by external sources thasitthe same tribal
entity that was previaly acknowledged|,] or as a portion that has evolved from that entdy.”
at15 (quoting 25 C.F.R. 8 83.8(d)(1)). After the Muwekma presented additional evidence in
response to the issues raised by the DepartrienDepartment thensiged its Final
Determination on September 6, 2002, in which it adopted the conclusions presented in the
Proposed Finding and provided additional analysis regarding the newly presentedeslidenc
the Muwekma.See generall?l.’s First SJ Mem., Ex. 6 (Final Determination)

As an initial matter, the Department concluded that the Muwekma failed to present
sufficient evidence that the entity had been identified “as the same tribal eatityath
previously acknowledged(,] or as a portion that has evolved from that erRitys”First SJ
Mem., Ex. 7 (Proposed Finding) 15 (quoting 25 C.F.R. § 83.8(d)(1)). According to the
Department, the Muwekma could only produce one example between 1927 and 1995 where the
Muwekma was identified “as [the entity] that had evolved fronindean settlement at the
Verona station,” and the Department concluded that “[0]ne example is rotesuffo meet”

Section 83.8(d)(1y. Id. Accordingly, the Department evaluated the Muwekma’s petition under

8t is not entirely clear why Rule 83.8(d)(1) requires a petitiomefemonstrate that not only has it been recognized

as an American Indian entity on a substantially continuous basestsie date of last Federal acknowledgment, but

that the petitioner must also show that it has “been identified by [e}}teousces ashe same tribal entity that was

previously acknowledged],] or as a portion that has evolved from ttigt erfter all, Rule 83.8(d)(5) makes clear

that if a petitioner is not able to demonstrate that external sources haviéedi@s the same dhyt that evolved

from the previously acknowledged tribe, then that requirement is deghenth, and the petitioner need only show
(continued . . .)

12



the alternative criteria prescribed in Ruk3.8(d)(5) and 83.7(a)whether the Muwekma “has
been identified as an American Indian entity on a substantially continuous lasesthe date it
was last acknowledged by the Federal Government, or 1927.

Even under the modified standard of Rule 83.7(a), the Department concluded that the
Muwekma failed to present sufficient evidence that it had been recognized aseanah
Indian entity on a substantially continuous basis by external sources between 1927 ahd 1985.
Id. at 24. First, the Departmemrtjected the Muwekma’s argument that the listing of “its
members or their ancestors . . . by the Bureau of Indian Affairs pursuantXottbeMay 18,
1928, which allowed Indian claims to be made against the United States,” constitdtaxe of
an extenal identification. Id. at 73. The Department concluded that “the claims against the
United States authorized by that . . . act, as the petitioner acknowledges, were dndusg}trdl|f
of the ‘Indians of California,” and thus “[a]pplicants applied as individuals, and tta¢ansents
about their historical tribe of their ancestors were a form ofidelftification of a[] historical,
not contemporary entity.1d. In other words, “there was no need for the BIA to identify any
specific tribe or band of Indians for the accepted applicants” in order to deterhetigewan
applicant was eligible to recover under the Claims Adgt. As further evidence of its findings,
the Department pointed to a 1936 letter by the superintendent of the Sacramento Agency, who

informed ‘Dolores (Lola) Marine Galvgroneof the [plaintiff's] ancestorsthatshedid not have

(.. . continued)

that it has been recognized as an American Indian entity on a substaiatiihyuous basis since the date of last
Federalacknowledgment. It would appear, then, that the requirement that theneetitad been identified as the
same tribal entity that was previously acknowledged is completelyfhupes—indeed, the Department seemingly
recognized as much in the Proposeadifig. SeePl.’s First SJ Mem., Ex. 7 (Proposed Finding) at 15 (“Itis a
peculiarity of the regulations that there is a lower evidentiary burdémipetitioner if it is evaluated since 1927
under 83.7(a) without modification by [S]ection 83.8(d)(1).Ih any event, the plaintiff does not challenge the
Department’s interpretation of Rule 83.8(d)(1) or 83.8(d)(5) in itsandbr summary judgment, and thus the
Department’s interpretation of these provisions is of no concern ©dbe in resolvinghe motions before it.

° The Department concluded that the Muwekma provided sufficient evidence“tretlitbeen identified as an
Indian entity by a variety of external observers on a consistent bassi€i85.” Pl.’s First SJ Mem., Ex. 7
(Proposed Fiding) at 23.

13



“ward status’or Federal recognitioh.Id. This correspondence was significam the
Department becaus&alvan was included on the 1933 judgmernitasla California Indian,”
and thus “the superintendent did not equate” eligibility under the Act “withd's&atus’ or
Federal recognitioi. Id. The Department found further corroboration of its analysis in another
statement by the superintendent, in which he stated that “Mrs. Galvan is shown on dfe Rol
California Indans . . . but does not have ward status and[,] therefore, is not eligible for any aid
from Federal funds through this agencyd. at73-74. As a result of its analysis, the
Department gave no weight to any evidence that an individual's recovery had&iatms Act
constituted an external identification of any American Indian enlityat 73.

The Departmendlso found ngrobative significance in the fact that the claims
applicaton asked the applicant to identify their “degree of Indian blood and [the] Triberat B
of Indians of the State of California” to which the applicant belong®ds First SJ Mem., Ex. 6
(Final Determinationat 22. The Department noted that “fourteen of the 18 applicants answer
[that] question . . . with some variant of ‘Mission San Jose,” and that “[t]his respefieseed to
[nineteenth] century tribal ancestry, not to contemporary memberslip.Furthermore, the
Department noted that two of the applicants had stated “Tribal name unknown,” and thet anoth
applicant had answered “Ohlones(?) Tribal name [u]nknown,” and that these answers hardly
demonstrateontemporary tribal affiliation because “[g]enerally, an individuattsva tribal
membersip would not be unknown to him or her, while his or her specific tribal ancestry back
to 1852 could be unknown.ld. at 2223. Thusthe claims application was “interpreted” by the
Department “to inquire about the applicant’s historical tribal anceatrgl"did not constitute a

contemporaneous identification by an external souldteat 23.
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Evidence that several members of the Muwekma attended Indian boarding schools also
failed to persuade the Department. Although the Department acknowledged agti&6yi
[John]Guzman [that] refers to his attendance[] and his sister’s attendance” at ali#{, ghe
Muwekma failed to provide the Department with “BIA records and school recordbthas it
was “impossible” for the Department “to know on what basis these individuals attémede
schools.” Id. This was especially true, according to the Departnibatause some Indian
students were accepted on the basis of their blood degree, rather than themretmibelrship.”

Id. at 74. Thus, the Department concluded that “attendance at these Indian schools was not
necessarily based on identification of an Indian tribe or grolgh.”

In response to the Proposed Finding, the Muwekma submniittedalia, “[a]n
application form for John Guzman, dated 1944t the Department concluded that “[tlhe form
contain[ed] no information on tribal membership and no tribal certification or endarséme
Pl.'s First SJ Mem., Ex. @inal Determinationat 31. And, while the form listed John
Guzman'’s tribe as “Missighthe Department found this to be a “generic reference[ that] applies
to many separate Indian groups,” and that it did not “refer to the [Muweknaad@ecific Indian
entity.” 1d. Indeed, “[a]n incomplete copy of a 1944 letter from the SacramentmIAdiency
about . . . [John] Guzman stated: “There is no dthdithese children have sufficient Indian
blood to admit them to a Government Boarding Scholal.” Based on this evidence, the
Department concluded that entry into the boarding schools was not based on triaibaffidut
ratheron “their degree of Indian blood.[d.

Finally, theDepartment rejected the scholarly articles that the Muwekma relied on in
demonstrating external identifications. First, the Department declined td #ue8mithsonian

Institution’s Handbook of North American Indias an example of an extelmdentification of
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the Muwekma for several reasons. The Department founththauthor of the articlmerely
“described the Costanoan language family and concludgdie aboriginal Costanoan were
neither a single ethnic group nor a political entitid’ (internal quotation marks omitted).
Furthermore, the Department noted thatab#hor “referred to [the] Pleasanton [rancheria] as
one of the multiethnic Indiacommunities [that] existed for a period of time after the
secularization of the missions in 1834d. For these reasons, the Department discenoed
reference to the Muwekma by the author of the bd@éeid.

Second, e Department rejectede Muwekmas reliance on th&@955 paper written by
anthropologists Alfred Kroeber and Robert Heizier.at 3233. In the paper, the authors
“selected and examined a small, mandom([] ‘strategic sample’ of the 1933 census roll of the
‘Indians of California’ as prepared by the [Department] in response to claimshbundgr the
Indian claims jurisdiction act of 19281d. at 3233. Based on the Departmenanalysis, it
concluded that the authors “did not claim that Indian entities or settlemeriedarid 955, or in
1933, but that historical groups that had lost their distinct culture had surviving lineal
descendants in the population of California at the time of the 1933listdt 33. Put
differently, the Department construed the 1955 paper as arguing “that even though Indian
cultures had become extinct, Indian populations had ndt."Thus, the Department concluded
that the “1955 paper is not evidence sufficient to meet” Section 83.7(a) becausel§w]het
individuals of Indian descent survived until 1933, or later, is not the test posed hgrciiagr’
Id.

The Department also declined to give weight to the 1978 Margolin stddgt 44. The
Department found that “the book is an account of an Ohlone lifestyle prior to European

settlement, andhus is not relevant to an analysis of the petitioner since 1987.The
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Department acknowledged a passage cited by the petitioner in which the author rndted tha
descendants of the Ohlone Indians are still among us. . . . [as] a small, seldeoh paxtiof the
Bay Area population,” but the Department found this to be merely an “acknowledge&jijiret
existence of living Ohlone individuals,” and not an identification of “any Indian antitp78.”
Id. (alteration in original).

E. The Departmerd Affirmation of Tribal Status for the Lower Lake and lone Tribes

In 1994, the Department conferred federal recognition upon the lone Band of Miwok
(“lone”), a Central California Indian tribe. PIFrst SIMem. at 25; id., Exs. 61-63pealso
Compl. 1 26; Answer at 22. The Department similarly acknowledged the tribalaitthes
Lower Lake Rancheria of California (“Lower Lake”), another Central Caliéotmibe, by placing
it on the list of federally recognized tribes in 2081P1.’s First SIMem. at 24:id., Ex. 60;see
alsoCompl. 1 26; Answer at 23. Neithitye lone nor Lower Lake were required by the
Department to submit a formal petition for tribal ackihedgment under Part 83, norng¢hey
required to undergo the “lengthy and thorough” process of evaluation “based on detailed
documentation provided by the petitioner,” PEisst SIMem., Ex. 46, before receiving the
benefit of federal tribal recognition, Compl. 1 26; Answer at 22, 23 (admitting that the

Department “clarified the status pbne] . . . [and] reaffirmed the status of [Lower Lake]

¥ There is some confusion in the record regarding the year in which thestehas of Lower Lake was formally
acknowledged.SeeCompl. 1 26 (stating that “in 2002, [Lower Lake] . . . was reaffitrhy administrative action”);
Answer at 23admitting that “in December 2000, [the Department] reaffirmed the siéfuswer Lake]”); Pl.’s

First SIMem. at 24 (stating that “[o]n January 3, 2001, the Department announcednbald correct its records

to recognize [Lower Lake]”) (citing PEFirst SIMem., Ex. 60 (January 3, 2001 DOI news release)). The precise
date of Lower Lake’s recognition is not material to this litigation, but fovenience the Court will refer to January
3, 2001, the date on which the Department formally stated that it hadrfresaffthe federal trust relationship
between the United States and . . . [Lower Lake],” as the operative date=irBl.SJMem., Ex. 60 at 1. The
Department also extended federal acknowledgment to two Alaska tribesytaieéquiring tem to proceed through
the Part 83 process, at the same time it recognized Lower LakeFiRt’'SIMem. at 24 (citing PI.’&irst SJ

Mem., Ex. 60); Pl.'s Opp. at 2; Answer at 30 (stating that “the forssistant Secretary reaffirmed the status of
two Alaska Native villages outside the [P]art 83 acknowledgment proceduiag the pendency of the Muwekma
petition”).
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without requiring [them] to submit . . . petition[s] under . . . Part 83”); Answer at 30 tadmit
that “while the[Muwekma] Tribe’s petition for recognition was pending, the Department
reaffirmed he status of [lone] and [Lower Lake] outside the [Part 83] procedures”). Moreover,
the Department does not disputee Muwekma’s allegation thahelone and Lower Lake, like

the Muwekma, “were . . . Central California tribes previously recognizledstt as late as 1927”
who did not appear on the 1979 list of federally recognized tribes despite “never [Heeeng
terminated by Congress [or] by any official action of [the Department].’s Hist SJOpp. at 5;
seealsoPl.’s First SIMem. at 2327; Answer at 223.

The Muwekma alleges that on several occasions, it requested that the Department
reaffirm its tribal status through administrative correction, as the Departiaeidome witithe
lone and Lower Lake, without requiring that its completed petition be evaluatedtbed®art
83 criteria. Pl.’&irst SIMem. at 11; Compl. 1 27; Answer at 23. The Department démeed
Muwekma'’s requests, stating that it did not have the power to rélsedveiwekma to the list of
recognized tribes by administrative means. FHirst SIMem. at 11; Compl. I 27; Answer at 23
(admitting that “[n]otwithstanding the Department actions to the contrary wipece® the lone
Band and Lower Lake, [Department] staff repeatedly advised [Muwekmahthaissistant
Secretary [of Indian Affairs] lacked authority to administrativelyffiea tribal status”).

F. The Present Litigation

TheMuwekma brought this action on June 6, 2003, seeking reversal of the Final
Determination, placement on the Department’s ligedérally recognized tribes, and other
injunctive relief. Compl. at 18. On July 13, 20€% Muwekma moved for summary judgment,
alleging that (1) “the Department recognized the Muwekma . . . under csiogigdegislation

at least until 1927,” Pl.’s First SJ Mem. at 17, and because “Congress has thetrswigydo
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terminate tribes,id. at 15, the Department “had no authority to withdraw recognition [of the
Muwekma] in the Final Determinatioid. at 17; (2) the Department’s recognition of Yferona
band in 1927 “establishedtiast relationship” and that the Department’s Final Determination
“constituted [a] serious violation[] of its fiduciary duty to the Muwekmd.; (3) the

Department violated the APA and the Equal Protection Clause when it required Matgekm
petition for acknowledgment of its tribal status pursuant to the “lengthy and thonegghatory
procedures of Part 83, jEx. 46, despite administratively reaffirming the status of similarly
situated tribes without requiring thosd#s to undertake the Part 83 process and without
sufficient explanation for the disparate treatmghtat 2122, 26-30see alsd’l.’s First SJ

Opp’nat 912; Compl. 11 37-39, 44-47; (4) the Department violated the Muwekma'’s due process
“right to contirued recognition, including the associated services, protections|,] and financial
benefits,”id. at 30; (5) the Department violated Section 554(d) of the APA by allowing “one of
its attorney advisors” to both represent the Department in an earligidtigavolving the
Muwekma?l* and “advise[] . . . the Department| in its] decision on the merits of the Muwekma’s
petition for recognition,” id. at 3%ee als® U.S.C. § 554(d) (barring “[a]n employee or agent”

of an agency to participate both “in the performance of investigation or proggfuictions for

an agency” and to “participate or advise in the decision recommended decision, §r agenc
review” of that same or “factually related case, . . . except as witness or coundsian pu
proceedings”); and (6) “the Final Determination was arbitrary and capsibecause it

improperly refused to consider, rejected[,] or misconstrued substantial evakmoastrating

" The prior litigation in this Court referenced by the Muwekma involvpdtiion for a writ of mandamus it filed to
compel the Departmérito complete within twelve months its review of the [Muwekma'siition for
acknowledgment as a federally recognized Indian trilMuivekma Tribe v. Babbitt, 133 F. Supp. 2d 30, 31
(D.D.C. 2000) (Urbina, J.). Judge Urbina ultimately directed theafepnt to conclude its review of the
Muwekma’s petition by March 11, 2002Muwekma Tribe v. Babbitt133 F. Supp. 2d 42, 51 (D.D.C. 2001)
(Urbina, J.).
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that the Tribe satisfied the recognition criteria” set forth under Sectiad.&8,35. In response
to Muwekma’s summary judgment motion, the defendants filed a oroien for summary
judgment on September 12, 2005, arguing that (1) the Muwekma'’s claim that the Dapartme
unlawfully withdrew recognition in the Final Determination “is barredh®ystatute of
limitations[] because it accrued more than six years ago,” Defs.’ FildeBuat 28; (2) even
assuming that the action is not barred by the statute of limitations, “it is clear that [the
Department’s] application of the fedeealknowledgrentregulations to [the p]laintiff's petition
and subsequent [F]inal [D]etermination were lawful,” id. at 32; (2) the Muwekms&teon of a
trust obligation owed to it by the Department “has no madt,at 37, because its “claim is
premised on its faty belief that it continues to be a recognized trilog,’at 38; (3) the
Muwekma'’s due pcess claim cannot survive because it does not have a “critical
constitutiondly protected property interésin federalacknowledgmends a Native American
tribe, id. at 42; (4) Section 554(d) is inapposite because “by its express térstatutapplies
in cases where an “[a]djudication [is] required by statute to be determirtheé ocecord after
opportunity for an agency hearing,” @&t 48; (5) the Departmedid not violate the Equal
Protection Clause because it had a rational basis for requiring the Muwekntiida pader
Section 83, idat 3340, and that “groups demonstrating or alleging characteristics similar to
[Muwekma] are regularly required to proceed through the federal acknowlatigroeess,” id.

at 40;see alsd®efs.” Reply at 1719; and (6) “[tlhe Assistant Secretary’s final determination that

[the p]laintiff was not entitled to a governmentgovernment relationship with the United States
is fully supported by the lengthy administrative record in this casegt @l.
The Court issued a memorandum opinion and order on September 21, 2006, in which it

denied both parties’ motions for summary judgment and remanded this case back to the
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Departnent to allow the agency to supplement the record. Muwekma Ohlone Tribe v.

Kempthorne, 452 F. Supp. 2d 105, 107 (D.D.C. 2006). Specifically, “the Court conclude[d] that
the defendantghad] not articulated a sufficient basis for the Department’s disparate treatment of
Muwekma and the lone and Lower Lake tribekl’ at 116. While the Court acknowledged the
existence of the modified Part 83 procedures for those entities that can datepnst federal
acknowledgmentthe Court found the relevant inquto be “whether the Department has
provided a rational basis for requiring Muwekma to adhere to the Part 83 procedure while
exempting other tribes that are purportedly similarly situatédl.’at 116. After reviewing the
record, the Court concluded that “the Department . . . has never provided a clear agt coher
explanation forts disparate treatment Muwekma when compared with lone and Lower Lake,
nor has it ever, in the administrative record or in the papers before this Cocutatet

standatls that guided its decision to require Muwekma to submit a petition and documentation
under Part 83 while allowing other tribes to bypass the formal tribal reaogpitbcedure
altogether.”1d. at 121;see alsad. at 119 (“[T]he defendants here havesdinothing to explain

the basis fo][its] decision to treat Muwekma differently frolmne and Lower Lake.”)d. at 120
(“[T]he administrative record contains no indication why the Department woulseréd
consideMuwekma’s requests for administrativerection while allowing lone and Lower Lake
to proceed outside the Part 83 regulatory process.’af itR4 (“[T]here i:n0 contemporaneous
explanation of the Depament’s decision to tredluwekma differently from lone and Lower

Lake; indeed, it is thiack of a reasoned explation in this regard thafluwekma is challenging
under the Equal Protection Clause and the APA.”); id. at 125 (“[T]he Court is unable tom discer
the Departmens rationale for requiring Muwekma to proceed through the Part 83 tribal

acknowledgmenprocedures while allowing other tribes that appear to be similarly situated to
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bypass the procedures altogether . .. .”). The Court did observe in a footnote thahtyehagl
“obliquely” attempted to distinguish the Muwekma from Ltimever Lakeby noting that the
government had previously acquired land in trustHerLower Lake, and that the Lower Lake
participated in an Indian Reorganization Act election, but the Court found this exphanati
insufficient to justify “the Department’dlagedlydifferential treatment oMuwekma” because
“this explanation pertain[ed] onto a difference betwedWluwekma and onef the tribes with
whom it is claiming to be similarly situated,” and that the record does not reflecit tregfuired
the Muwekman and not Lower Lake to undergo the Part 83 prockedcaesehe latter, unlike
the former, had received land in trust and had participated in an eledtibat’118 n.13. The
Court, therefore, directed the Department to “provide a detailed exiplaah the reasons for its
refusal to waive the Part 83qeedures when evaluating Muwekma'’s request for federal tribal
recognition.” Id. at 124.

On November 27, 2006, in response to the Court's memorandum opinion and order, the
Department filed a docuent titled “Explanation to Supplement the Administrative Reeord
Muwekma Ohlone Tribe.” Explanation to Supplement the Administrative Record at 1s In thi
submissionthe Department explained that its “decisions to clarify the statienefin 1994 and
to reaffirm [flederalrecognition of Lower Lake in 2000 . . . were not based merely on a finding
that those groups wepreviously recognized by the [flederaldgérnment at some time in the
past.” Id. at 2. Rather, the Department found that‘ttmaver Lake and lone . . . had trust lands,
agreements, legislation, or consultation [with the Federal Government] deaimie¢kdn 1927,”
where as the Muwekma hao such interactions with the federal governmédaitat 7. Rather,
the Department explainedath[tlhe lone and Lower Lake decisions justified action omaltfeof

those groups that Muwekma did not shargl’at 3. For those reasons, the Department
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concluded that the “Muwekma wastrsimilarly situated to eithdone or . . . Lower Lake.'ld.
at 3.

With regard tadhe Lower Lake, the Department noted that the record in that case
“demonstrates a pattern of Federal dealings with the Lower Lake Rancheridf¢hsaficm the
absence of any similar evidence for a Verona baidl. &t 7. For istance, “[t]he [flederal
[gJovernment purchased land to establish the Lower Lake Rancheria on January 25, 1916,” and
“[t]he government held this land in trust until the Act of 1956 authorized its sile.The
Department also cited a report issued in 1927 that both “advised against the poirtdraséor
a Verona band,” and “recommended that land be gethfor the Lower Lake bandld.

Then, “[i]n 1935,” the agency again sought to acquire additional land for the band and other
small groups.”Id. Several years later, the Department issued a report in which it “noted the
existence of a Lower Lake groliping off the rancheria,” after which fauthorized an
individual to move onto the rancheria and . . . surveyed the rancheria’s populédioiitie
Department also noted that theistence of theower Lake had been recogniziegl the federal
government on two separate occasions—in 1953, when the United States “House of
Representatives listed the Lower Lake Rancheridlanse Report 2503, and in 1988en “the
BIA central office and regional office considered including the LowéelRancheria on the list
of federally recognized tribes, but did not do stwl” Based on treedealings with the federal
government, the Department concluded that“Lower Lake andMuwekma were not similarly
situated.” Id. at 6.

The Department also identified a history of contativeen the federal government and
the lone. “The [flederal [glvernment attempted to purchase land for” the lone, which had been

explicitly “identified by a census made by a special agent in 19054t 7. In 1916, “the
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Indian Office obtained a deed and abstract of title for the purchase of lahe fone[,] . . . and
the Department provided the Office with a formal “Authority” foe hurchaseld. The
Department then cited documents reflecting an “extensive, but unsuccessitj], tefclear title
to the land for the” lone from 1915 to 192i. Then, “[ijn 1941, the Department considered a
petition from the ‘Indians of the lenValley’ requesting the purchase of landd’ at 7-8. “In
1970, two lone individuals contacted the BIA about the status of the land on which they lived,”
and subsequently “the California Rural Indian Land Project . . . of the Californéanlbdgal
Services proposed bringing a quiet[-]title action on behalf of the lone Band . . . anstiregjue
that the land be accepted and held in trukt.” As a result, in October 1972, the Department
issued a letter “accept[ing] by relinquishment of title ot jgif parcel of land to be held in trust
for the lone Band of Miwok Indians.Id. The Department found that these facts, which
evidenced a “historical circumstance of an uncompleted acquisition of trust lanel [dore’s]
behalf,” were sufficient to fferentiate the lone from the Muwekma.

As for the Muwekma, the Department concluded that the same 1927 report that
recommended a land purchase for the Lower Lake concluded that “a land purchase ddd not ne
to be made for members of a Verona barid.” The Department also noted that after 1906,
various “appropriation acts that authorized purchases of land for homeless Califdiames . . .
also did not mandate action specifically on behalf of the Verona baedAlthough the
Muwekma contended that the author of the report “failed to carry out his instrudtions”
purchase land on behalf of the Verona band, the Department concluded that the author’s
“Instructions contained no request for specific action or a specific resulhaif béa Verona
band.” Id. Rather, “[t]he instructions [he] received in 1927 were to submit a general report

about California Indians, without making an extensive field investigation, and tdydast
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band for whom land should be purchaseldl.” (internal quotation marks omitted). Thus, the
Department concluded “that the historical circumstancééusiekma can be distinguished from
those of lone and Lower Lakeld. at 9.

Based orthe Department’s supplementation of the record, the plaintiff once again moved
for summary judgment. Although the plaintifdsreasserted all of the grounds it relied upon in
its initial summary judgment filing, Pl.'SecondSJ Mem. at 36, the plaintiff focused its efforts
on demonstrating that “the Department . . . denied equedgtien of the law and acted
arbitrarily and capriciously toward the Muwekma . . . by unredsgnmafusing to reaffim
Muwekma'’s recognized status and by requiring it to submit instead to the bamrdens
procedures of . . . [|Part 83[]ld. at 1. Specifically, the plaintiff arguenhter alia, that the
Department’s reliance on having “at least intended to purchase federartpestty” as a basis
for distinguishing the Muwekma from Lower Lake and lone “is merely a_ post@iocalization
by Depatment officials that had nothing to do with the lone or Lower Lake decisions at the
time,” id. at 28, because “[b]Joth Congress and the Department of the Interior havedigpeate
recognized tribes that had no land, and have specifically provided for the purclaass td be
held in trustafterrecognition,id. at 29 (footnotes omitted). The Muwekma further argues that
its review of federahcknowledgment “decisions demonstrates that not one . . . decision uses the
lack of federal trust land (or any attempts to secure such trust land) as eddaimst a
petitioner or as a negative factor under the criterid.’at 30 (footnote omitted). The Muwekma
also notes that “in neither of [the] decisiomslating to the Lower Lake or tHene “did the
Deparment state that the trusind . . . issue was a factor weighing in the decision to recognize
these two Tribes outside of the Part 83 proceks.at 33. In any event, thelekma argues

that “the trust land issue is a false factual distinction in asg’cbecause “the Muwekma. . . ., as
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the Verona [b]and, was found to be eligible for trust land purchase,” and that “none of [¢he thre
Tribes]possessed any trust land at the tiheytsought recognition” by the federal government.
Id. (emphasis omitted)

The Department renewed its cramstion for summary judgment, arguingter alia, that
the “[p]laintiff is not similarly situated to Lower Lake or lone[] besaut lacks a longtanding
governmental relationship with the United States.” D&escad SJ Mem. at 8. The
Department noted that “[ijn contrasttbe Lower Lake and Ione], there is no evidence of any
federal dealings with a Muwekma group or Verona band after 1987 (internal quotation
marks omitted). The Departmeasphasizedhe fact that it had multiple dealings withe
Lower Lake,id., and that “[lJikeLower Lake, lone had a lorgfanding governmental
relationship with the United States[,] although sporadically documentdddt 10. As to the
Muwekma, however, the Departmemgued that the “[p]laintiff's raltionship with the United
States ended much farther in the pa$tl.”at 12. The Department once again rejected the
position that the enrollment of individuals “for judgment funds awarded to the ‘Indians of
California,” and the attendance BtA schools by “three individuals in the 1930[]s and 1940][]s
was proof that the Muwekma was recognized as a tribal entity by the United Stgteag that
“the United States . . . provided funds and services to individual Intliéchsat 13. As a result,
the Department argued that “these allegations fail to establish that [the p]iaisiiffilarly
situated tdthe] Lower Lake and loné. Id.

After considering the parties’ renewed submissions, the Court issued an order on
September 30, 2008, concluding that the Department’s “arguments, and the explanation . . .
giving rise to them, seemingly cannot be reconciled with the Court’'s September 21, 2006

[M]emorandum [O]pinion.”Id. at 5. The Court noted that it had “determined in its prior
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[M]emorandum [O]pinion that the defendants’ arguments to the effect that the pleastifiot
similarly situated to lone and Lower Lake were without merit,” aad ‘ftjhe necessary
implication of both conclusions is that the Court foumel plaintiff to be similarly situated to
lone and Lower Lake.ld. at 7. The Court explained that it had “remanded the case to the
Department so it could explawhy it treated similarly situated tribes differently, not so that it
could construct postdt arguments as to whether the tribes were similarly situated in the first
place.” Id. at 9. The Court further stated that “[i]t certainly did not remand the case sbehat
Department could re-open the record, weigh facts that it had never previoustecedsand
arrive at a conclusion wg-vis the similarity of the plaintiff's situation to those of lone and
Lower Lake that it had never reached beforgl’at 9. Accordingly, the Court stayed the
parties’ summary judgment motiond, at 1, and dected “the parties to file supplemental
memoranda of law addressing . . . whether the Court should consider administratig recor
pertaining to the [Lower Lake and lone] that were not considered when the Depassued its
initial decision denying thplaintiff's petition for recognition,’id. at 9.

The Departmenriled its Supplemental Memoranduom October 30, 2008. Defs.” Supp.
Mem.at 16. The Department assdftat it “did not understand the Court’s Order of September
21, 2006, to have held thghe p]laintiff was similarlysituated to [the] lone and Lower Lake”
becausehe Court had concluded that . . . ‘it lack[ed] sufficient information about the
Department’s decision to recognizkee] lone and Lower Lake outside of the Part 83 process.”
Id. (quoting_Muwekma, 452 F. Supp. 2d at 113)ary event, the Department arguiest
“neither the lawof-the-case doctrine nor the mandate rule apply to [the d]efendants’ arguments
regarding [the p]laintiff's equal protection and APA claim,” id. atli#cause the Court’'s Order

of September 21, 2006, was an interlocutory order,” id. at 3, and such “orders are not subject to
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the lawof-the-case doctrine and may always be reconsidered prior to final judgment,” id.

(quoting_Langevine v. Dist. of Columbia, 106 F.3d 1018, 1023 (D.C. Cir. 198udjjhermore

the Department notes that “courts generally recognize an exception to thetenamel in the

event that an earlier decision was erroneods At 5 (citing_United States v. Alled1 Fed.

App’x 367, 369 (10th Cir. 2002) andhited States v. Ameded87 F.3d 823, 830 (6th Cir.

2006)), and because it asserts that the findings set forth in the Explanation to Supplement t
Administrative Record “demonstrate[] that [the p]laintiff is not similarly situéeldne and
Lower Lake in critical respects . .[,] the Court should deviate from its earlier mandate and
further consider the question of whether [the p]laintiff is similarly sithtéddone and Lower
Lake,”id. at 6.

The Muwekma hasesponded to the Department’s supplemental memorandum by
asserting that the Department “was . . . bound to follow the mandate of this Court atigelimi
scope of its remand to the Memorandum Opinion’s order of an ‘express justificaittba’ a
‘detailed explanation of theeasons’ for requirind/luwekma to proceed through the lengthy
federal acknowledgmemtrocess while exempting” tHeower Lake andhe lone. Pl.’s Supp.
Opp’'n at 6. And the Muwekma contends thajnly three exceptionally narrow reasons may
provide a basis” fof deparfing] from the lawf]of[-] the[-]case and thi€ourt’'s mandate,” idat
8 (internal quotation marks omitted): “(1) if there is new intervening law; (2)rioa lpolding is
clearly erroneous and would work a manifest justice; and (3) where the evidersrdseguent
trial or before a second judge is substantially different,ai&9 (footnote omitted), all of which
it argues “do noépply here,’id. at 8;see alsad. at 9. Thus, the Muwekma posits that it is

“entitled to summary judgment restoring it to thedistederally recognized tribésld. at 1.
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. Standard of Review
Courts will grant a motion for summapydgment under Rule 56(a) of the Federal Rules
of Civil Procedure only if the moving party has shown “that there is no genuine dispotangs t
material fact and [it] is entitled to judgment as a matter of la¥ed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).
Moreover, “in ruling on cross-motions feummaryudgment, the Court shall grasummary
judgment only if one of the moving padies entitled to judgment as a matter of law upon

material facts that are not genuinely disputedltiwekma Ohlone Tribe, 452 F. Supp. 2d at 113

(citation omitted). Summaryjudgment‘is an appropriate procedure when a court reviews an
agency’s administrate record,”Shays v. FEC, 424 F. Supp. 2d 100, 109-10 (D.D.C. 2006), and,
because this case “involves a challenge to a final administrative action, ths Gouew is

limited to the administrative recordZund for Animals v. Babbitt, 903 F. Supp. 96, 105 (D.D.C.

1995) (citingCamp v. Pitts411 U.S. 138, 142 (1973)).
“The APA entitles a person suffering legal wrong because of agency actemhersely
affected or aggrieved by agency actiom“judicial reviewthereof.” 5 U.S.C. § 70Hill

Dermaceticals, Inc. v. FDA, 524 F. Supp. 2d 5, 9 (D.D.C. 2007). The APA requires the

reviewing court to set aside an agency action that is “arbitrary, caprieioabuse of discretion,
or otherwise not in accordance with law.” 5 U.S.C. 8§ 706(2)(A). In camduihis review,

considerable deference must generally be accorded to the aggmesyitizens to Pres. Overton

Park, Inc. v. Volpe, 401 U.S. 402, 416 (1971), overruled on unrelated grounds by Califano v.

Sanders430 U.S. 99, 105 (1977Bpecifically, in the context of this case, the Department has
“special exyertise” in cetermining whether petitioning Indian tribes are entitled to tribal
recognitionJames824 F.2d at 1138, and thilse Court must be particularly deferential to its

determinationsBldg. & Canst. Trades Dep't v. Brock, 838 F.2d 1258, 1266 (D.C. Cir. 1988).

29



Accordingly, “[t]here is a presumption in favor of the validity of the admirtis&action.”

Bristo-Myers Squibb Co. v. Shalala, 923 F. Supp. 212, 216 (D.D.C) 1886 alsdanes 824

F.2d at 1138 the Departmeniof the Interior] has been implementing its regulations for
[several]years and . . . it employs experts in the fields of history, anthropology and gen¢ology
aid in determining tribalecognition This . . . weighs ifavor of giving deferencdo the agency
by providing it with the opportunity to apply its expertise.”).

Despite the presumption of validity and the deference that must be afforded to an
agency'’s actions, a reviewing court “must consider whether the [agencyisipdegas based on
a consideration of the relevant factors and whether there has been a clearjedgment.”

Marsh v. Or. Natural Res. Council, 490 U.S. 360, 378 (1989) (internal quotation marks omitted).

At a minimum, the agency must leagonsidered relevant data and articulated an explanation
establishing a “rational connection between the facts found and the choice maderi \Bow

Am. Hosp. Ass’n, 476 U.S. 610, 626 (1986) (citation omitted).

[A]ln agency rule would be arbitrary amdpricious if the agency has relied on
factors which Congress has not intended it to consider, entirely failed to consider
an important aspect of the problem, offered an explanation for its decision that
runs counter to evidence before the agency, or is so implausible that it could not
be ascribed to a difference in view or the product of agency expertise.

Motor Veh. Mfrs. Ass’n v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1988xalso

Cnty. of Los Angeles v. Shalala, 192 F.3d 1005, 1021 (D.C. Cir. 1999) (“Where the agency has

failed to provide a reasoned explanation, or where the record belies the agenciusion, [the
court] must undo its action.”). As noted, the “requirement that agency action nboitbeaor
capricious includes a requirement that the agency adequately explainlits régb. Citizen,
Inc. v. FAA, 988 F.2d 186, 197 (D.C. Cir. 1993). This requirement is not particularly

demanding, howeverd. Nothing more than a “brief statement” is necessary, so long as the
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agencyexplains “why it chose to do what it did.” _Tourus Records, Inc. v. DEA, 259 F.3d 731,

737 (D.C. Cir. 2001). Thus, if the court can “reasonably ... discern[]” the agency’s path, it wil

uphold the agency’s decision. Pub. Citizen, 988 F.2d at 197 (citing Bowman Transp., Inc. v.

ArkansasBest Freight Sys., Inc419 U.S. 281, 286 (1974)).

[11.  Legal Analysis

The overarching question to be decided by the Court on the parties’ cross-motions for
summary judgment is whether to uphold the Department’s decision tadiengwledgmenbf
the Muwekma as a Native American Tribe entitledtlte protection, services, and benefits”
provided by the Federal government to such entities, as well as the “immumdipe\aleges
available to other federally acknowledgedian tribes by virtue of their government-
government relationship with the United States.” 25 C.F.R. § 8Baddressinghis question,
the Court must confront and resolve the following issuBsvkether the Department unlawfully
terminated federal recognition of the Muwekma as a Native American tribe; €fhaviihe
Department’s recognition of the Verona band in 1927 established a trust réligti@msl
whether any fiduciary duties owed as a result of that relationship wehbdehy the
Department; (3whether the Department’s Final Determination was arbitrary and cajsgi¢4)
whether the Department violated the Muwekma’s due process rights when it déngd to
continued recognition, including the associated services, protectiand[financial benefits,”
Pl.’s Opp’n at 30(5) whether the participation in the decisioraking and litigation process by
an attorney-advisor at the Department violated Section 554(d) of the APA; amldef®er the
Department violated the APA and the Equal Protection Clause by requiring the Mawekm

petition for acknowledgment of its tribal status pursuant to the Part 83 procedutesyaring
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those same procedures for the Lower Lake and lone tribes. The Court witlesagesch issue in
turn.

A. TheMuwekma’'sUnlawful Termination of Tribal StatuSlaim

The Muwekma arguesind it does not appear to be disputkdt“Congress has the sole
authority to terminate tribes.” Pl.’s First SJ Mem. at B&cause the Muwekma was found to
have descended fromNative American tribe (the Verona band) that had been federally
recognized until at least 1927, the Muwekma asserts that the Department “had ntydathor
withdraw/(its] recognition in the Final Determinationld. at 16. The Department, on the athe
hand, responds that this claim is barred by the statute of liomsatand that even assumihg
Muwekma has timely brought this claim, the claim is without merit because “it improperly
assumedhat its descent from the once recognized Pleasantonron&&and[] automatically
indicates that it is a continuously existing political entity.” Def.’s First CMet SJ Mem. at
32.

The Court agrees with the defendants that this claim is barred by the statute of hsiitatio
of 28 U.S.C. § 2401(a). Undtnis statute, “every civil action commenced against the United
States shall be barred unless the complaint is filed within six years aftegithef action first
accrues.” 28 U.S.C. § 2401(a). The moment at which a cause of action first actmuethai
meaning of Section 2401(a) is when “the person challenging the agency antiostitate and

maintain a suit in court.’'Spannaus v. U.S. Dep’t of Justice, 824 F.2d 52, 56 (D.C. Cir. 1987).

Here, the Department asserts several dates at wiediuvekma could have pursued a cause of
action against the agency: (1) in 1927, when the Muwekma cortteatdthe Department
provided [it with only] a fraction of the federal funding and services allddate. . Indian

tribes, Defs.” First SJ Mem. at 30 (quoting Pl.’s First SJ Mem. at 20); (2) in 1978, thvde
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Muwekma “was not listed on the Federal Register list of entities recognized $gchetary of
Interior as a tribe,id.; and (3) in 1989, when the Muwekma filed its petition for federal
acknowledgmentd. at 31. Of these three dates, the Court finds that the most obvious point at
which the Muwekma could have first brought suit against the agency for purpoeedigating
its tribal status was in 1989, when it was clear thatg aware that iwas not a federally
recognized tribe. Given that the Muwekma did not bring this action agairi3efgatment until
2001, approximately twelve years after it undoubtedly possessed knowhatigdacked
acknowledgmenby the federal government as &b its unlawful termination of tribal status
claim isplainly barred by the limitations period of 28 U.S.C. § 2401(a).

The Court cannot accept the Muwekma’s argument that “[t]he triggering #xiag
liability in this case is th@Department'sFinal Determination.” Pl.’s First SJ Mem. at 19. The
Muwekma conflates two distinct causes of action that an aggrieved party cothielory, bring
against the Departmerggarding tribalacknowledgmensgtatus one for a wrongfutlenialof
federal acknowledgmenand one for a wrongfaérminationof federalacknowledgmentThe
Part 83 procedures fall squarely into the former categoryuh@ose of such procedurieso
determine whether a Native American entity is entitled to a status that it does@apba
petitioning the Departmentfa]jcknowledgement of tribal existence.” 25 C.F.R. § 83.2. The
procedures are not a mechanism for reviewing whetfesteaally recognizettibe should retain
its tribal status—a process that could lead to litigatiorifaj within the lattercause of action
mentioned above because the end result would be the termination of that tribe’s status.
Otherwisejt would make no sense that a federally recognized tribe would voluntanterst
letter of intent to requesicknowledgment under the Part 83 Proceduf&se25 C.F.R. § 83.4(a)

(“Any Indian group in the continental United States that believes it should be ackged/asl
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an Indian tribe . . . may submit a letter of intent.”). Thus, the point of accruakfor
Muwekma’s cause of action for wrongful termination of tribal statasthe noment at which it
realized the federglovernment no longer recognizéhe entity as aitye—a point in time that
occurred long before the Department’s issuance of the Final Datdrom.

The Muwekma'’s reliance on the “continuing claim” doctrine &ds. SeePl.’s First SJ
Mem. at 20 n.17. The “continuing claim” doctrine “allows a plaintiff to get retiefftime
barred act by linking it with an act that is within the liatibns period,” Selan v. Kiley, 969 F.2d
560, 564 (7th Cir. 1992), and here, the Muwekma argues that “the linking governmental act
would be the Final Determination itself, which relied heavily on the premise thisliuthekma .
. . was not recognized extaily by the Department or others in the period after 1927,” Pl.’s First
SJ Mem. at 20 n.17. Such an application of the doctrine “effectively veoadticate the statute
of limitations’ because “lack of formal recognition is the gravamen of the plaisfiffomplaint,
so only formal recognition could bring an end to the ‘continuing claiimgreby “preserving

[the Muwekma’s] cause of action until it becomes moot.” Miami Nation of Indiatsdaina,

Inc. v. Lujan, 832 F. Supp. 253, 257 (N.D. Ind. 1993). The “continuing claim” doctrine,
therefore, has no application to the facts of this case.

Accordingly, the Court concludes that the Muwekma'’s cause of action basedctaints
that the Department wrongfully terminated its tribal status is barred Isyatute of limitations.

B. The Muwekma'’s Arbitrary and Capricio@aim

The Muwekma argues that “the [Department’s] Final Determination was aylatrdr
capricious because it improperly . . . rejected or misconstrued substantialcevitbenonstrating
that the Tribe satisfied the recognition criteria.” Pl.’s Fg$Mem. at 35. With respect to the

requirement under Section 83.8(a) that the Muwekma proffer evideatcehad been identified
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as a tribal entity by external sources on a substantiallynemus basis, the Muwekma contends
that the Department arbitrarily rejected evidence that members of the orgamfeatiolled . . .

in the California Judgment Act,” id. at 37, because “the BIA required applicantstdydbeir

tribal affiliation in sworn and witnessed applicationsgeid. at 38 (noting that the application
asked “What is your degree of Indian blood and to what Tribe or Band of Indians chthefSt
California do you belong?”), and that “the Bureau approved these applications, incheding t
response of the Muwekma . . . members who replied to this [inquiry] by referringhbgsien

San Jose,id. The Muwekma also argues that the Department erred in “reject[ing] evidence that
[its] members attended BIA boarding schools in Oregon and . . . California during the 1930[]s
and 1940[]s on the ground that the record did not indicate whether these tribal members were
accepted based on their degree of Indian blood or membership in a recognizedonbal g
because the Department may potvide special services to Indians on the account of their race.

Id. at 39 (citingMorton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535, 553-54 (1974)). Lastly, the Muwekma asserts

that “[tlhe Final Determination arbitrarily rejected substantial evidencetefrex identification

by scholars, including a 1955 report . . . prepared by anthropologists Alfred L. KrodRera
Heizer,”id. at 39, as well as “references to the continuing existence of the Muwekma Ohlone
people in a book written in 1978 by Malcolm Margolin” and in a 1978 Smithsonian publication,
id. at 40. In rejecting all of this evidence, the Muwekma contends the Depatappljied] a
standard of proof far beyond the regulatory standard” of proof, id. at 35, and that “the
Department ignored critical historical circumstances” in its Final Determinatittaitiyng] to .

.. account [for] the impact of the lack of a landbase and the particularly horqddeence of

California tribes on the [Muwekma’s] ability to document its prior activities, at 36.
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The Court finds all of the Muwekma’s arguments taMt@out merit. With regard to the
Muwekma’s contention that its members participated in the California Claims Act, the
Department reasonably concluded that such evidence did not constitute an eeatifilation
of the Muwekma. The Department adequately explainedfiicants’ indications of some
association to “Mission San Jose” in response to the question: “What is your delgiciarof
blood and to what Tribe or Band of Indians of California do you beloisg@sufficient to
constitute an external identification of the Muwekma because that idemtificegferred to 19th
century tribal ancestry, not to contemporary membership.” Pl.’s$iidem., Ex. 6 (Final
Determination) at 22. The Department’s conclusion is further supported by thersupsavided
by two other approved applicants wéwaswered the same question by statifrgoal name
unknown” and “Ohlones(?) Tribal name [u]lnknowrd. As the Department noted, “an
individual's active tribal membership would not be unknown to him or her, while his or her
specific tribal ancestry back to 1852 could be unknowd.’at 2223. The Court does not find
the Department’s analysis to be wanting in logic, and thus there is no reasonGouth&®
disturb the agency’s conclusions regarding this evidence.

Likewise, the Court finds the Department’s conclusion that attendance atlzoBtéing
school did not require membership in a federally recognized tribe to be supportedduotide
First, the Court is not persuaded that the BIA’s admission of students in its boatthotss
must have been based on their tribal membersdtiper than their race &sdians, because of the

Supreme Court’s decision Mancari SeeMancarj 417 U.S. at 554 (holding that the Indian

Reorganization Act's employment preference for qualified Indians does noitaenistvidious
racial discrimination because “[tlhe preference, as applied, is grantedidadmot as a discrete

racial group, but, rather, as members of qgasereign tribal entities whose lives and activities
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are governed by the BIA in a unique fashion.”). Even assuming that thea@oegtvith the
Muwekma that, unddvlancarj “the legal basis for providing special services to Indians is not
their race but the political relationship between the tribe and the federahgwre,” Pl.’s First

SJMem. at 39., thdMancaridecision was issued in 1974, decades after the Muwekma’s

members attended these boarding schgeld. (discussing evidenad attendance at BIA
boarding schools “during the 1930[]s and 1940[]s”). The Court cannot logically conclude that
the_Mancardecision hasnyrelevance tahe BIA’s earlier studenadmisions policies for its
schools; such illogicaleasoning is no more convincing thiie premisehat segreg#on did not
exist in the 1949 because the Supreme Court later held the practmanstitutional in Brown v.

Board of Education of Topeka, 349 U.S. 294 (1955). Tkas\carican have no sway on the

Court’s analysis of the Department’s position concerning earlier BlIAdbaaschool
attendance.

Second, the Department closely analyzed one of the boarding school student’s
applications, which it noted did not include “information on tribal membership and . . . tribal
certification or endsement.” Pl.’s First SJ Menkx. 6 (Final Determination) at 31. The
Department noted that the applicant had identified his tribe as “Mission,” arglittaa
reference was merely a “generic” one that “applies to many separaa grdups,” and not the
Muwekma specifically.ld. This conclusion is consistent with the Department’s observation that
various “Ohlone” Indians “were concentrated by the Spaniards before 1834 at trenh\biani
Jose,”id., Ex. 7 (Proposed FindingSummay) at 10, and that several other Native American
entities have claimed descent from those Indians residing at the Mission 8zediols, Ex. 7
(Proposed Finding) at 9 (noting that the existence of other “Ohlone” applicantsisteates that

“the Muwekma . . . does not have an uncontested claim to represent the descendants of all the
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Ohlone of the San Francisco Bay Area or all the territory of the Costancakirgppeoples”).
The Department’s conclusion is further buttressed by a 1944 letter which Stdtext is no
doubt but what these children have sufficient Indian blood to admit them to a Government
Boarding School.”ld., Ex. 6 (Final Determination) at 31. This evidence, when viewed
collectively, plainly supports the Department’s conclusiort thadence of attendance at BIA
boarding schools does not reasonably demonstrate identification of the Muwekmaxbsriaal e
source.

Third, the Court does not find any error in the Department’s rejection of the Muvgekma
scholarly evidenceAccording to the Department, the author of 8mithsoniararticle merely
“described the Costanoan language family and concluded that the aborigitzsddaoswere
neither a single ethnic group nor a political entitid’, Ex. 7 (Proposed Finding) at 76 (internal
guotation marks omitted). With regard to Kroeber and Heizer's 1955 paper, the Department
found the authors to be arguing “that even though Indian cultures had become extiant, |
populations had not.ld., Ex. 6 (Final Determination) at 33. This propios, the Department
found, “was a statement about the survival of individual descendants, rather than lodp’g
Id. Accordingly, “[b]Jecause [Kroeber and Heizer] referred to surviving descesdather than
groups, they did not identify an Indian entity in either [the 1930s or 195[@k].As for the1978
Margolin book, the Department acknowledged that “[ijn general, the book is an analysis of an
Ohlone lifestyle prior to European settlement,” which it found “is not relevant toapsss of
the [Muwekma] since 1927.1d., Ex. 6 (Final Determination) at 44. Moreover, the Department
found that “[w]hile Margolin acknowledged the existence of living Ohlone individudigef his

research was conducted, he] did not identify” any Indian entity in 1RI78There isnothing in
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these findings from which the Courtrcaonclude that the Department erred in rejedinnsg
evidence as externalentifications of the Muwekma.

Lastly, the Court is not persuaded that the Department misapplied 25 C.F.R. § 83.6.
None of the evidence proffered by the Muwekma establishes a “reasonabtedakélihat
external sources had identified it as a Native American tribe; simply becausewekiva
believes that its evidence is persuasive does not mean it is she Bspartment sufficiently
explained in its Proposed Finding and Final Determination, the evidence proffefrezl by t
Muwekma and discussed above has no bearing on the issue of whether external sources
identified it as a Native American tribe. Moreover, @murt does nadiscernhow it could find
thatthe Department failed to consider the Muwekma'’s “historical circumstancassessing its
applicaton for federal acknowledgmengeePl.’s First SJ Mem. at 36 ndeed the Muwekma
does not explain how “thparticularly horrible experience of California triyad., would have
affected its ability to retain documentation of its existence after 17 hus, the Court finds
this argument to be without merit.

For the foregoing reasons, the Court finds thatagency’'$-inal Determinatiorwas not
arbitrary and apricious and must therefore be upheld.

C. The Muwekma’s Breach of Fiduciary DuBlaim

Next, the Muwekma argues that the Department’s recognition of the Vieaodan 1927
established a trustlegionship, that the Department owed the Muwekma fiduciary duties as a
resultof that relationshipand that these duties were breached by the Department. Pl.’s First

Mem. at 18. Specifically, the Muwekma argues that “[o]nce the Department recofghined

2ndeed, the “horrible” experiences alleged by the Muwekma took place several decade4 927, theoint at
which it was required to produce evidence of its continuing tribal exist&SeePl.’s First SJ Mem. at 2 (“During
the latenineteenth centurynonindians were particularly hostile to tribes, seeking out and killing hsddautright,
often enouraged by local governments.” (emphasis added)).
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1927] . .. as a tribe under its care and supervision, it had a duty to support and preserve the
Tribe,” and that the Department “lacked authority . . . to resign from or teertimatrust.”Id.
at 19. Furthermore, the Muwekma argues that even assuming the Departmesefddbses
authority “to unilaterally withdraw from the . . . trust relationship . . . , it failed toodo s
accordance with basic principles of fairness and trust responsibilityat 20.

The Court is not persuaded by the Muwekma'’s position. Even if a trust relatiorzship w
created as a result of the federavgrnment’s recognition of the Verona band, the Muwekma’s
argument assumes that it was the Department that withdrew from that relatioAfibipall, as

Judge Posner noted in Miami Nation of Indians of Indiana, Inc. v. U.S. Dep'’t of thein?&s

F.3d 342, 346 (7th Cir. 2001), “[i]t is . . . obvious that Indian nations, like foreign nations, can
disappear over time . . . whether through conquest, or voluntary absorption into aratgeore
fission, or dissolution, or movement of population.” Should a tribe cease toitehkikbbdws that

the federal gvernment would no longer have a trust relationship with that er@ggid. at 350

(“If a nation doesn’t ext, it can’t be recognizéyl The Muwekma thus needs to demonstrate it
did not cease to exist after 1927, and the manner in which the Muwekma is required to prove its
existence as a tribe is through the Part 83 proced@e=25 C.F.R. 8 83.2 (“The purpose of . . .
[P]art [83] is to establish a departmental procedure and policy for acknomgettigit certain
American Indian groups exist as tribes.”). And, because the Court finds thaghdament’s
decision to deny acknowledgmeaftthe Muwekma as a Native American trivas a legally
defensible position, the Court also finds that the Department did not owe the Muwekma any
fiduciary duties after 1927, and that any purported breach asserted by the Muaftskrttas

date is without merit.
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D. The Due Procsgs Claim

The Muwekma argues that “[tlhe Department’s application of 25 C.F.R. [§]I84d fai
afford[it] due process for the withdrawal of recognition.” Pl.’s Fé$Mem. at 31.
Specifically, the Muwekma asserts that “[t]he right to continued retiog, including the
associated services, protections|,] and financial benefits, once the righehasskeblished, is a
property right that cannot be revoked without due procdsisdt 30. The Muwekma argues
that “[t]he hallmarks of procedural dpeocess—notice, opportunity to be heard, and an
impartial decision[Jmakerwere entirely lacking in the Department’s procedures,” and while the
Muwekma acknowledges being consulted in the decision by the Department’ thstaff
Department did not providea formal hearingld. at 32. Furthermore, the Muwekma
complains that it was not afforded an “opportunity to cross-examine the staSgooi@s who
developed and interpreted [the] evidence against [it].” The Court finds thislaim meritless™

The Muwekma’s due process claim cannot be maintained due to the Muwekma'’s failure
to demonstrate that it possessed a property right pridsacknowledgment As noted above,
the Seventh Circuit has recognized that “[i]t is . . . obvious that Indian nationyrigkgrf
nations, can disappear over time . . . whether through conquest, or voluntary absorption into a
larger entity, or fission, or dissolution, or movement of populatidtidmi Nation 255 F.3d at
346. Whether the Verona band continued to exist as an entity after 1927 and wieether
Muwekma'’s property right in federal acknowledgment ceased to exist altmtheentity itself
at the moment of dissoluticare both questions the Department had to addresd.it wasthe

Muwekma’s burdemo establish that, in fact, it continued to exist as a tribe after tt®@ugh

13 Given that this claim is based on the purported “withdrawal of recoghltipthe Department, it appears to the
Court that this claim is seemingly also barred by the statute of limitat®eesupraat34. The Department,
however, does not argue anywhere in its submissions that the Muwekmal®degsgrlaim is barred by the statute
of limitations, and thus the Court will not make that determination.
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the Part 83 procedureS§eeid.; Koerpelv. Heckler 797 F.2d 858, 863-65 (10th Cir. 1986)

(holding that the plaintiff bears the burden of proving the existence of a conssilti
protected property interest). Havifagledto meet this burdenhe Muwekma hafailed to
establish that the Departmantlated theDue Process Clauge issuing its Final Determination

E. The Muwekma'’s Conflict-otnterest Claim

The Muwekma anges that the Department violated 5 U.S.C. § 554(d) by allowing “one
of its attorney{]advisors” to advise the Department concernitsg'decision on the merits of
Muwekma's petition for recognition,” and to also allow gaeneattorneyadvisor to “represefj

the Department in thgluwekma v. Babbitt litigation” that took place before Judge Urbina. Pl.’s

First Mem. at 33. This argumergsts on a misinterpretation of the APAhe various
subparagraphs of Section 554 apply onlyegwery case of adjudicatn required by statute to be
determined on the record after opportunity for an agency hearing.” 5 U.S.C. 8§ 554(d)thélere
Muwekma does not cite, nor is the Court aware of, a statute that requires theneaptot
provide a hearing to an applicant lseg acknowledgmenas a Native American tribe. Thus,
Section 554(d) has no application to this case.

F. The Muwekma’'s$Equal Protection Claim

Finally, the Muwekma argues that the Department “violated [the E]qualt§eiion
[Clause] and the APA by restorigo similarly situated California tribes based on a lower
evidentiary standard while denying” the Muwekma the opportunity to seek recogmitiler the
same standard. Pl.’s First SJ Mem. at 21-22. Both the Equal Protection Clause a&Péd the A
prohibit agencies from treating similarly situated petitioners differently without progidin

sufficiently reasoned justificatn for the disparate treatmeriee, e.g.Settles v. U.S. Parole

Comm’n 429 F.3d 1098, 1102-03 (D.Cir. 2005) (“To prevail on [anequal protection claim,
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[a plaintiff must] demonstrate that [it] was treated differently than similarly sduadviduals
[or entities]and that the [agency’s] explanation does not satisfy the relevant level afgeruti

(citing Plyler v. Doe, 457 U.S. 202, 216 (198)nty. of Los Angeles v. Shalala, 192 F.3d

1005, 1022 (D.CCir. 1999) (holding that “an agency action is arbitrary when the agency offers
insufficient reasons for treatirgymilar situations differently{internal quotation marks and

citations omitted); Freeman Eng’g Assocs. v. FCC, 103 F.3d 169, 178 (DuC1997)

(observing that “an agency maytrieat like cases differently(internal quotation marks and

citation omitted); Petroleum Commc’ns, Inc. v. FCC, 22 F.3d 1164, 1172 (D.C. Cir. 1994)

(stating that the District of Columbia Circuit has “long held that an agency musigfan]
adequate explanation before it treats simjlaiuated parties differently(titations omitted)
To the Court’s knowledge, the District of ColumbieidQit has not explicitly defined what
constitutes “similarly situated,” but at least one other circuit has defined that tereatothat

the two classes being compared greriafacieidentical in all relevant respects, directly

comparable . . . inllamaterial respects.”_Racine Charter One, Inc. v. Racine UnifiedC8sh,.
424 F.3d 677, 680 (7th Cir. 2005) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted).

In addressing the Muwekma’s equal protection claim, the Court must first adares
observatiormadein its Septerher 30, 2008 Order, wherein the Court construed the September
21, 2006 Memorandum Opinion as having “implicitly[,] if not explicitly, [conclydedt the
[Muwekmal]is similarly situated tdone and Lower Lake.” September 30, 2008 Order, at 8,

Muwekma v. Babbitt, No. 08v-1231 (RBW)(D.D.C). As noted above, the Department

representshat it “did not understand the Court’s Order of September 21, 2006, to have held that
[the Muwekma)was similarly situated to lone and Lower Lake iattthe Court concluded that .

.. ‘it lacks sufficient information about the Department’s decision to recotpneeand Lower
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Lake ouside of the Part 83 process.” Defs.” Supp. Mem. at 16 (quoting Muwekma, 452 F. Supp.
2d at 113). The Muwekmér its part, expressed its agreement with the Court’s Order that the
Department “was . . . bound to follow the mandate of this Court and limit the scope ofatslrem

to the Memorandum Opinion’s order of an ‘express justification’ and a ‘detailechexiplia of

the reasons’ for requiring Muwekma to proceed through the lengthy fedéradwledgment

process while exempting” thewer Lake and lone. Pl.’s Supp. Opp’n at 6.

Upon further reflection, the Court acknowledges that its September 3002068
incorrectlyrepresented the ruling in iptember 21, 2006 Memorandum Opinion. As the
Department correctly observed, Defs.” Supp. Mem. at 1, the Court did not decide the question of
whether the Muwekma was “similarly situated” to the Lower Lake and lonélgeekma, 452
F. Supp. 2d at 116 (noting that the relevant inquiry before the Court was “whether the
Department has provided a rational basis for requiring [the p]laintiff to atthére Part 83
procedure while exempting other tribes that@reportedlysimilarly situated(emphasis
added)). Indeed, “the Court’s review [was] limited to the administrativeeagd=und for
Animals 903 F. Suppat 105 (citingCamp 411 U.S. at 142), and, as the Court noted numerous
times in the September 21, 2006 Memorandum Opinion, the record dielveatany
consideration by the Department of whether the Muwekma was entitled to the aam@ieok
the Part 83 procedures that was granted to both the Lower Lake and treeéhewekma, 452
F. Supp. at 113 (concluding that the Court “lack[ed] sufficient information about the
Department’s decision to recognize lone and Lower Lake outside of th@3Randcess to
resolve [the p]laintiff's equal protection and APA claimsd);at 119 (“[T]he [Department has]
cited nothing to explain the basis for the Deymeent’s decision to treuwekma differently

from lone and Lower Lake.”)d. at 120 (“[T]he administrative record contains no indication
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why the Departménwould refuse to considduwekma’s requests for administrative correct
while allowing lone and Lowe Lake to proceed outside the Part 83 process.Roui\iinning
afoul of wellsettled law circumscribing this Court’s review of the Department’s Final
Determination, the Court could not have decided the question of whether the Muwekma, Lower
Lake, and lone were “similarly situated.” Thus, contrary to the Court’s vdigans in the
September 30, 2008rder, the Departmenmtas instructed on remand to address whether the
several tribes were similarly situated, and it neadgsauld make that assessment only by
reviewing the record evidence.

Consequently, the Court must review the Department’s supplement to the adimgistr
record to determine whether the agency provideadaguatexplanation “why it chose to do

what t did,” Tourus Records, Inc. v. DEA, 259 F.3d 731, 737 (D.C. Cir. 2004 i, denying

the Muwekma a waiver to obtain federal acknowledgmethtout proceeding through the Part
83 process. And, the Court now fintie Department’s explanation sufficienthe Department
explained that the record reflects a “pattern of federal dealings with ther lake and lone
which evidences their long-standing and continuing governmental relationshimevitinited
States,'whereasthe Muwekma had no such inteiiacis with the Federal GovernmélitDefs.’
Second SJ Mem at 8

With regard tahe Lower Lake, the Department noted that “[t|he Federal Government
purchased land to establish the Lower Lake Rancheria on January 25, 1916,” and that “[t]he

[G]overnment held this land in trust until the Act of 1956 authorized its skle.The

* The Department also argues that the Muwekma is not similarly situatesl ltowrer Lake and the lone because it
“lacks collective rights in lands.” Defs.” Second SJ Mem. at 13. Thet@ead not assess the merits of this
contention, however, because it finds that the Muwekma’s lack of iriteraetsan entity with the federal
government is sufficient to support the Department’s conclusion ghalitlvekma is not similarly situated to the
Lower Lake and lone tribes.
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Department also citeother instances demonstrating communications and dealings between the
federal government and the Lower Lal&eeid. (citing various reports that contained a
“recommend][ation] that land be purchased for the Lower Lake 'bhamdcommendatiofto

acquire additional land for the band and other small groups,” and an observatioritheting
existence of a Lower Lakgroup living off the rancheria”)The Departmendlso noted that the
Lower Lake had been identified by the federalgrnment on two separate instances—in 1953,
when the United States “House of Representatives listed the Lower Lake Rahichidouse
Report 2503, and in 1980, when “the BIA central office and regional office consideredngcludi
the Lower Lake Rancheria on the list of federally recognized tribes, but did not’ did s

Based on these interactions with the fedeoakegnmentind the earlier references to it as an
entity, the Court hasmbasidor finding that theDepartmeris conclusiorthatthe“Lower Lake
andMuwekma were not similarly situatedid. at 6, isarbitrary and capricious.

Likewise, the supplement to the administrative record also iderdifiestory ofdealings
betweerthe federal government atioe lone. In 1915, a special agent for the BIA identified the
lone in a census conducted by the agency, and that “[t]ldefBe[gbvernment attempted to
purchase land for” the lone at that timd. at 7. The Department then noted thlaé Indian
Office obtained a deed and abstract of title for the purchase of land for ti¢ lonand the
Department provided the Office with a formal “Authority” for the purchdde.Documents in
the record also reflect the federalvgrnment’s “extensive, but unsuccessful, effort[] to clear title
to the land for the” lone from 1915-192&l. The recordurther reveal®fforts made by the
lone to inquire as to the status of its tribal lan8seid. at 7-8 (noting that “[ijn 1941the
Department considered a petition from the ‘Indians of the lone Valley’' requéise purchase

of land,” and that “[ijn 1970, two lone individuals contacted the BIA about the status ahthe |
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on which they lived,” and subsequently “the California Rural Indian Land Project .he of t
California Indian Legal Services proposed bringing a quiet[-]title action balfbef the lone
Band . . . and requesting that the land be accepted and held ip tiitst”Court finds these
facts, which théepartmenfound to havesvidenced a “historical circumstance of an
uncompleted acquisition of trust land on the [lone’s] behalf,” sufficient to diffeteritia lone
from the Muwekma.

The Muwekma argues, howevtratthere is actuallyo longstanding pattern &éderal
dealings between the federal government and the lone and the Lower Lake lbeeaasord
reflects“large periods of time in which [the Department] had no relationship with lone ogrl_ow
Lake!” Pl.’s Reply to Second SJ Mem. at 7. The Muwekma’s argument misses the point.
Unlike the evidence proffered by the Muwekma, which at best demonstrated ioteract
between the federal government and individuals that descended from the Verona band, the
evidence in the supplemental administrative recoldcts dealings between the federal
government and the lone and Lower Lake tribesraigies. The Department viewed its
interactions with the lone and Lower Lake tribes as evidence that thalfgdeernment dealt
with these entities as tribes, and tlhoacluded that it was appropriate to acknowledge these
tribes outside of the Part 83 process. Thus, the Department’s conclusion that the Muvaskm
not “similarly situated” to the lone and Lower Lake must be upheld.

IV. Conclusion

Despite the Muwekma’sfforts to raise a smorgasbord of claimamattempt toeverse
the Department’s Final Determination, the Court finds thaethrists no basis upavhich it
may overturn the agency'’s findings. Accordingly, the Court must grantéparnent’s cross

motion for summary judgment, and deny the Muwekma’s motion for summary judgment.
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SO ORDERED this 28thday of September2011

REGGIE B. WALTON
United States District Judge

15 An Order will beissted contemporaneously with this Memorandupir@n (1) granting he Department’s cross
motion for summary judgment, (2) denying the Muwekma’s motion fonsany judgment, (3) closing this case,
and (4) denying the Muwekma'’s Motion for Status Conference, whicBahet deems as moot in light of the

foregoing rulings.
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